
 

 

 
 

Portfolio Holder Decisions 
 
UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) - Grant for 
improvements to Garstang Community Sports Club, 
Reporting the Biodiversity Duty, Acceptance of grant 
funding to provide healthy weight services 
  

1.   UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) - Grant for improvements to 
Garstang Community Sports Club 
 

(Pages 3 - 8) 

 Report of the Corporate Director Communities. 
 

 
 

2.   Reporting the Biodiversity Duty 
 

(Pages 9 - 32) 

 Report of the Corporate Director Communities. 
 

 
 

3.   Acceptance of grant funding to provide healthy weight services 
and an active travel programme in Wyre 
 

(Pages 33 - 36) 

 Report of the Corporate Director Communities. 
 

 

 

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

The portfolio holder will make a decision on this item after seven days have elapsed 
(including the date of publication). 
 

Report of: Portfolio Holder Date of publication 

Marianne Hesketh, 
Corporate Director 

Communities 

Councillor Lesley McKay, 
Resources Portfolio Holder 

and Councillor Lynne 
Bowen, Leisure, Health and 

Community Engagement 
Portfolio Holder 

25 January 2024 

 
UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) - Grant for improvements to Garstang 

Community Sports Club  
 
Key decision: Yes 
 
1. Purpose of report 

 
 1.1 

 
To seek approval to grant £280,000 of UKSPF to Garstang Community 
Sports Club Limited to fund capital works for the phase one 
redevelopment of the community sports club building, situated at PR3 
1EB. 
 

2. Council priorities  
 

 2.1 
 

This report aligns to our corporate priorities involving raising rates of 
physical activity, by increasing participation opportunities and improving 
accessibility for all ages to engage in sport, health and wellbeing 
activities, thus supporting the delivery of Wyre’s Moving More Strategy.  
 

3. Recommendations 
 

 3.1 
 
 
3.2   
 

That £280,000 is granted to Garstang Community Sports Club Ltd for 
capital works to redevelop the multi-sport hub facility. 
 
That the capital programme be updated to reflect the spend profile, which 
is split over two financial years as follows: £15,000 in 2023/24 and 
£265,000 in 2024/25. 
 

  

Portfolio Holder Report

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



4. Background 
 

 4.1 
 
 
 
 
4.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.3 
 
 
 
4.4 
 
 
 
 
 
4.5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.6 
 
 

The UKSPF is a central pillar of the UK government’s Levelling Up 
agenda providing £2.6 billion of new funding for local investment by 
March 2025. Wyre’s allocation being £3,949,132 (which includes £20,000 
for preparing the Investment Plan).  
 
The Investment Plan of projects for Wyre, was selected via a project 
selection group from a shortlist compiled from proposals returned via 
three routes, namely: 

- Town Centre Partnership Boards (established as part of the 
council’s Town Centre Strategy Fund programme) nominating 
projects from priorities as set out in Town Centre Regeneration 
Frameworks. 

- A long-list of countywide business, people and skills support 
projects supplied via Lancashire County Council. 

- A long-list of borough-wide projects which picked up priorities that 
were outside the remit of the Regeneration Frameworks. 

 
Projects were selected based on the strength of their strategic fit in 
addressing key local needs and providing outputs which will support the 
council’s Town Centre Recovery Projects’ objectives. 
 
Garstang Community Sports Club, formerly Garstang Sports and Social 
Club, is one of the proposed Investment Plan projects. It supports the 
Wyre Moving More Strategy and is identified in the Greater Garstang 
Partnership’s Garstang Town Centre Regeneration Framework  (Theme 
4: Community, section 4.2).  
 
The facility occupies a site immediately to the north of the town centre 
along the west bank of the River Wyre. Currently, there are six different 
sports clubs that use the facilities, they are, rugby, football, cricket, 
tennis, running and canoeing and kayaking. Collectively they have a 
membership in excess of 1,000 members. Over the last five years the 
membership of these clubs has grown significantly across age groups 
and genders. The increasing demand, as the individual sports clubs grow 
and play at higher league levels, coupled with the increase in local 
housing development, has resulted in the main club building needing to 
undergo a significant overhaul to make it an inclusive fit for purpose 
facility, whilst still satisfying the standards required by the regulatory 
sports bodies.  
 
Planning permission was granted on 4 January 2019. The Club made a 
technical commencement, and the planning permission is still live. A 
further planning application, which incorporates a variation to the plans 
was approved on 18 January 2024. The Chairman of the Club has 
confirmed that there are no implications regarding Reinforced Autoclaved 
Aerated Concrete (RAAC). 
 

  

Page 4

https://www.greatergarstangpartnership.co.uk/post/the-regneration-framework-is-published


 4.7 This report concerns phase one of the redevelopment, that is, the 
construction of the single storey extension, which includes the expansion 
of the ground floor community space, the addition of new changing 
facilities, official’s accommodation and a viewing space.  
 

 4.8 In addition to the leagued teams, the Club hosts ad-hoc community 
sports, health and wellbeing activities. The Club’s vision is to provide a 
broader approach than just sports, developing the facility as a community 
hub and encouraging participation from a wider cohort of people and 
organisations, through the delivery of sports, health and active lifestyles 
programmes. 
 

5. Key issues and proposals 
 

 5.1 
 
 
 
 
5.2 
 
 
5.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The site upon which the club is situated has been transferred to the newly 
formed Garstang Community Sports Club Ltd. Wyre Council has 
approved the Deed of Covenant, and are awaiting the official Land 
Registry Office Copy, which is in process.  
 
The estimated value for phase one completion is £720,000, which 
includes £120,000 for contingency and inflation costs. 
 
Acknowledging that the Club is accelerating its efforts to raise the 
required funding for the project, the UKSPF Board has identified risks 
which have the potential to compromise project completion within the 
required UKSPF programme timeframe. These concerns relate to the 
organisation’s lack of experience in delivering projects of this nature and 
scale, and the possibility the scheme will be delayed and slip beyond the 
deadline, owing to factors either within or outside their control. This delay 
is further compounded by the anticipated waiting period for the results of 
other large match funding grant applications submitted by the Club, which 
are likely to be realised around May/June 2024. To mitigate the risks, 
following ongoing discussions with the Club, the UKSPF Programme 
Board are seeking to issue the funding in two parts, a sum of £15,000 for 
feasibility work first, followed by the larger capital amount (£265,000) for 
delivery of the build. This will be in keeping with the UKSPF 
requirements. Should the Club not be successful in their fundraising 
efforts towards the build, the feasibility work will still enable them to be in 
a stronger position to pursue other funding outside this UKSPF 
programme. The capital sum could then be reallocated to other projects. 
 
Garstang Community Sports Club Ltd would therefore enter into a two-
part grant agreement with Wyre Council. The second part would be 
granted subject to satisfactory results from the feasibility work and 
securing the required level of match funding. Therefore, capital 
expenditure from the UKSPF would be apportioned as follows: £15,000 in 
2023/24, and £265,000 in 2024/25. If the project does not proceed 
beyond the feasibility stage then the £15,000 would be reclassified as 
revenue and would still be met from the UKSPF. There is still a risk that 
the build phase will encounter difficulties and before the second 
agreement is granted, both the S.151 Officer and the Corporate Director 

Page 5



 
 
 
 
5.5 
 
 
 
5.6 
 
 
 
 
 
5.7 

Communities will need to be confident of successful delivery being 
achieved. Should further assurances be required, there will be an 
opportunity to amend the grant agreement accordingly. 
 
The Club has secured £50,000 towards the project to date. The Club has 
a funding strategy in place for the remaining £390,000, which is subject to 
grants from identified external grant bodies and other fundraising.  
 
In addition, a payment schedule would be agreed with the Club, with 
each payment contingent on the Club providing satisfactory quarterly 
monitoring reports to the council. These reports will be in accordance with 
Government’s reporting requirements, and these will be shared and 
reviewed by the council’s internal UKSPF Programme Board.  
 
The Club is intending to employ a dedicated project manager, who will be 
responsible for the management and delivery of phase one by 31 March 
2025.  
 

6. Alternative options considered and rejected  
 

 6.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.3 
 

Not to award the UKSPF grant to the Club is an option, as despite being 
included in the Investment Plan, it is possible to change the projects in 
the plan, which was illustrative when first drafted. However, the council’s 
UKSPF investment plan has now been approved by government, 
following consultation with and by Greater Garstang Partnership Board, 
local partners and residents and as such making changes is more difficult 
and could bring reputational damage. It is still possible to change the 
Investment Plan, although approval from the funding body would be 
required for an alternative project or projects. This brings with it a risk that 
the funding would be reduced.  
 
If the funding were withdrawn, Garstang Community Sports Club would 
struggle to secure an alternative source that is not repayable (e.g. a bank 
loan) in a reasonable timeframe, relative to its current need for 
redevelopment and growth. It would be especially difficult for the Club to 
secure the full amount it needs solely through other external grant bodies, 
owing to competition for funding and the strict criteria that many of the 
mainstream funders employ. Therefore, this UKSPF award would 
significantly increase the likelihood of the Club securing other match 
funding to deliver the project. 
 
Another option considered would be to award a significantly higher 
amount to reduce the burden on the Club to find match funding and 
escalate the project’s delivery timeframe. This option is rejected as it is 
considered that the Club would struggle to deliver a bigger project in the 
UKSPF programme delivery timeframe and the remaining funding is 
already allocated. This would also mean that other projects would need to 
be sacrificed which is not supported by the shortlisting process. 
 

  

Page 6



 6.4 Finally, funding for just the feasibility study could be awarded and the 
remaining funding reallocated to other projects. However, it should be 
noted that some controls exist already in the scheme so that should the 
project not be feasible, or the match funding not secured in time, the 
project will cease after the feasibility works stage. 
 

7. Delegated functions 
 

 7.1 
 
 
 
 
7.2 

The matters referred to in this report are considered under the following 
executive functions delegated to the Resources Portfolio Holder (as set 
out in Part 3 of the council’s constitution): “To determine payment of 
grants to outside bodies within allocated budgets”. 
 
The matters referred to in this report are also considered under the 
following executive function delegated to the Leisure, Health and 
Community Engagement Portfolio Holder “To consider matters relating to 
sport and recreation, including sports facilities (apart from playing fields), 
swimming centres, riverside and marine facilities for leisure pursuits and 
other leisure and cultural services”. 
 

 

Financial, Legal and Climate Change implications 

Finance 

The Council’s Capital Programme will be updated to reflect 
that the UKSPF capital spend of £280,000 on this project 
will be split over two financial years £15,000 in 2023/24 
and £265,000 in 2024/25. The second tranche of funding  
is dependent upon Garstang Community Sports Club 
securing sufficient match funding (currently identified as 
£390,000) to complete phase one works by March 2025 
and a successful outcome from the feasibility works. 

Legal 
The council will enter into a two part grant agreement, 
developed for UKSPF grants, with Garstang Community 
Sports Club Ltd. 

Climate Change 

The project will seek to deliver positive impact through the 
Club’s procurement of building works that include 
consideration of local supply chain, and low carbon 
materials. The project will build awareness and encourage 
participation in green methods of travel and outdoor low 
carbon activities. Negatively, the project is expected to 
increase visitors and competitors travelling to the site, 
however better storage provisions will enable equipment to 
be retained at the site and therefore reduce the need for 
transportation of it to and from the site.  

 
  

Page 7



Other risks/implications: checklist 
 
If there are significant implications arising from this report on any issues marked with 
a  below, the report author will have consulted with the appropriate specialist 
officers on those implications and addressed them in the body of the report. There 
are no significant implications arising directly from this report, for those issues 
marked with a x. 
 
risks/implications  / x  risks/implications  / x 
community safety x  asset management x 

equality and diversity x  ICT x 

health and safety x  data protection x 
 

Processing Personal Data 
 
In addition to considering data protection along with the other risks/ implications, the 
report author will need to decide if a ‘privacy impact assessment (PIA)’ is also 
required. If the decision(s) recommended in this report will result in the collection and 
processing of personal data for the first time (i.e. purchase of a new system, a new 
working arrangement with a third party) a PIA will need to have been completed and 
signed off by Data Protection Officer before the decision is taken in compliance with 
the Data Protection Act 2018.  
 

report author telephone no. email date 
Sara Ordoñez 01253 887267 Sara.ordonez@wyre.gov.uk  09/01/2024 

 
 

List of background papers: 

name of document date where available for inspection 

Decision Notice  04 Jan 2019 -18_00181_FUL-Decision_Notice-
377224.pdf (wyre.gov.uk)  

Planning application 
23/01131/FUL  

28 November 
2023 

https://publicaccess.wyre.gov.uk/online-
applications/applicationDetails.do?activ
eTab=summary&keyVal=S4TX8DSDHS
H00  

 
 
List of appendices 
 
None 

Page 8

mailto:Sara.ordonez@wyre.gov.uk
https://publicaccess.wyre.gov.uk/online-applications/files/718FC9DF1606A907F9BD4878B7A1598D/pdf/18_00181_FUL-Decision_Notice-377224.pdf
https://publicaccess.wyre.gov.uk/online-applications/files/718FC9DF1606A907F9BD4878B7A1598D/pdf/18_00181_FUL-Decision_Notice-377224.pdf
https://publicaccess.wyre.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=S4TX8DSDHSH00
https://publicaccess.wyre.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=S4TX8DSDHSH00
https://publicaccess.wyre.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=S4TX8DSDHSH00
https://publicaccess.wyre.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=S4TX8DSDHSH00


 
 

The portfolio holder will make a decision on this item after seven days have elapsed 
(including the date of publication). 
 

Report of: Portfolio Holder Date of publication 

Marianne Hesketh, 
Corporate Director, 

Communities  

Councillor Peter Le Marinel, 
Planning Policy and 

Economic Development 
25 January 2024 

 

Reporting the Biodiversity Duty 

 
Key decision: Yes 
 
1. Purpose of report 

 
 1.1 

 
To approve the first report of the Local Planning Authority on compliance 
with the biodiversity duty. 
 

2. Council priorities  
 

 2.1 
 

Protecting and enhancing biodiversity is part of creating and maintaining a 
cleaner, greener and more sustainable place. 
 

3. Recommendations 
 

 3.1 
 

That the attached report ‘Biodiversity Duty 2024-2026: First Consideration 
- Establishing the Baseline’ is endorsed and published as soon as is 
practical. 
 

 3.2 That the attached report is updated on an annual basis as of 1 January 
each year. 
 

 3.3 That each annual update is approved and published by the Head of 
Planning and Regeneration in consultation with the Portfolio Holder. 
 

4. Background 
 

 4.1 
 

The Environment Act 2021 creates a new legal framework to improve and 
protect the natural environment. A central feature of the Act is an 
amendment to the general biodiversity duty contained in the Natural 
Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006. The amended biodiversity 
duty is the ‘conservation and enhancement of biodiversity’. The 2006 Act 
as amended requires local authorities, including local planning authorities, 

Portfolio Holder Report 

Page 9

Agenda Item 2



to “consider” how they are meeting this duty and to report on this on a 
regular basis. It is a legal requirement that the first such consideration is 
undertaken by 1 January 2024 with reporting within 12 weeks of 1 January 
2026 at the latest. 
 

 4.2 The attached report (see appendix) is practical evidence of the first such 
consideration by Wyre Council as a Local Planning Authority (LPA). It 
describes how the LPA is meeting the duty now and how it plans to meet 
the duty over the next five years. It is intended that the document be 
updated on an annual basis, looking back at actions undertaken over the 
previous 12 months and ahead to the following five years. It is intended to 
publish the attached report, and subsequent reports, as soon as possible 
after the 1 January base date each year. Although the legal requirement is 
a report no more than every five years, this is a maximum and more 
frequent reports can be provided, including annually. An annual update is 
in itself evidence of the commitment to the biodiversity duty and will allow 
the LPA to provide up-to-date evidence of meeting this obligation. 
 

5. Key issues and proposals 
 

 5.1 
 

Government guidance provides advice on complying with the duty and 
reporting on this compliance. The attached report has followed the advice 
provided to define its structure and content. Because this is the first 
consideration, the report establishes the “baseline” in terms of actions 
undertaken by LPA relevant to biodiversity. This baseline position will be 
updated and developed in subsequent annual reports. 
 

 5.2 The report identifies actions recently undertaken that accord with the duty. 
This includes in particular work carried out by the LPA to prepare for 
Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG), such as training for officers and members 
and the development of guidance to provide assistance for applicants for 
planning permission. The LPA’s emerging involvement in the Lancashire 
Local Nature Recovery Strategy (LNRS) is also acknowledged. The report 
sets out the structure of relevant policies in the current Wyre Local Plan 
and acknowledges that the setting of new objectives and policies will fall 
within the remit of the Local Plan full review. Subsequent reports will track 
progress on this matter and provide appropriate detail. The report also 
provides some examples of how matters relating to biodiversity are 
translated into actions on the ground via the development management 
service. In conclusion, the report identifies four areas of particular focus 
over the next five years: 

 The Local Plan review; 

 The implementation of mandatory BNG; 

 The development of the LNRS and integration into local planning 
policy and development management decisions; and 

 The integration into local planning policy and development 
management decisions of species conservation strategies and 
protected site strategies as and when progressed by the national 
government. 

 
 

Page 10

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/complying-with-the-biodiversity-duty#species-conservation-strategies
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/complying-with-the-biodiversity-duty#protected-site-strategies


6. Alternative options considered and rejected  
 

 6.1 
 

None. The attached report broadly follows government guidance on 
reporting against the biodiversity duty. 
 

7. Delegated functions 
 

 7.1 
 

The matters referred to in this report are considered under the following 
executive function delegated to the Planning Policy and Economic 
Development Portfolio Holder (as set out in Part 3 of the council’s 
constitution): “To consider proposals for the conservation or enhancement 
of the physical environment of the Borough”.  

 

Financial, Legal and Climate Change implications 

Finance 

No direct financial implications arising from this report. The 
annual reporting requirement will be led by the planning 
policy team as part of their core function. This will be met 
from within existing budgets. Any requirement for 
additional resource in future will be subject to the 
appropriate approval process.  
 
It should be noted that the aspect of the new duty which 
includes the aim to “Maximise the potential of council-
owned land to contribute to local nature recovery and 
climate change mitigation and adaptation” may require 
investment in the future and this consideration should form 
part of future Council Plan strategic resourcing 
discussions. 

Legal 
The attached report fulfils the legal requirements set out in 
the Environment Act 2021 in relation to reporting progress 
against the biodiversity duty. 

Climate Change 

The approval of the first consideration raises awareness of 
climate change both internally and externally and allows the 
opportunity to annually explore improvements in acting in 
accordance with the Biodiversity Duty through protecting 
and enhancing biodiversity. This has a positive impact on 
tackling climate change throughout Wyre. 

 
Other risks/implications: checklist 

 
If there are significant implications arising from this report on any issues marked with 
a  below, the report author will have consulted with the appropriate specialist 
officers on those implications and addressed them in the body of the report. There 
are no significant implications arising directly from this report, for those issues 
marked with a x. 
  

Page 11



 

risks/implications  / x  risks/implications  / x 

community safety x  asset management x 

equality and diversity x  ICT x 

health and safety x  data protection x 

 
Processing Personal Data 

 
In addition to considering data protection along with the other risks/ implications, the 
report author will need to decide if a ‘privacy impact assessment (PIA)’ is also 
required. If the decision(s) recommended in this report will result in the collection and 
processing of personal data for the first time (i.e. purchase of a new system, a new 
working arrangement with a third party) a PIA will need to have been completed and 
signed off by Data Protection Officer before the decision is taken in compliance with 
the Data Protection Act 2018.  
 

report author telephone no. email date 

Len Harris 01253 887231 len.harris@wyre.gov.uk 12/01/2024 

 
 

List of background papers: 

name of document date where available for inspection 

None   

 
List of appendices 
 
Appendix 1 - Biodiversity Duty 2024-2026: First Consideration - Establishing the 
Baseline 

Page 12



Biodiversity Duty Portfolio Holder Report January 2024  Appendix 1 
 

1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Biodiversity Duty 2024-2026:  

First Consideration - Establishing the Baseline  

 

A Report by the Local Planning Authority 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Planning and Regeneration 

1 January 2024 

Page 13



Biodiversity Duty Portfolio Holder Report January 2024  Appendix 1 
 

2 
 

Introduction 

The Environment Act 2021 received royal assent on 9 November 2021. The aim of 

the Act is to create a legal framework to improve and protect the natural 

environment.   

In early 2023, the government published its first revision of its 25-year Environment 

Improvement Plan in the form of the Environmental Improvement Plan 2023. This 

sets out the so called “apex goal” of improving nature by halting the decline in 

biodiversity to achieve thriving plants and wildlife. Together with related actions 

around climate change, water quality and nutrient neutrality, the Environment Act 

2021 and Environmental Improvement Plan (original and 2023 revision) arguably 

signal a step change in government policy on environmental issues and place 

specific duties on local authorities in this regard. 

The Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 (the NERC Act) originally 

placed a specific duty on local authorities and other public bodies in the exercise of 

their functions to “conserve biodiversity” (section 40). The Act as originally enacted 

did not impose any reporting of implementation obligations upon public bodies. The 

Environment Act 2021 changes this position by: 

 Amending the biodiversity duty to include the enhancement of biodiversity in 

England. The amended general biodiversity objective is therefore the 

conservation and enhancement of biodiversity. 

 Expanding the definition of “public authority” to specifically include a local 

planning authority (LPA). 

 Placing legal obligations on the public authorities in terms of implementation 

and reporting. 

Local nature recovery and Biodiversity Net Gain should be seen in this context. 

The NERC Act as amended requires LPAs to consider what action can properly be 

taken to further the general biodiversity objective. The first such consideration is 

required to be undertaken by 1 January 2024.  

This report should be taken as the first consideration by Wyre Council as the Local 

Planning Authority (LPA). As this is the first consideration under the Act, it should be 

Page 14



Biodiversity Duty Portfolio Holder Report January 2024  Appendix 1 
 

3 
 

regarded as establishing a “baseline” position. Future reports will develop this 

position as necessary. 

The Biodiversity Duty 

The NERC Act as amended states that the action which may be taken by the 

authority to further the general biodiversity objective includes action taken for the 

purpose of: 

(a) conserving, restoring or otherwise enhancing a population of a particular species, 

and 

(b) conserving, restoring or otherwise enhancing a particular type of habitat. 

On 17 May 2023, the Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) 

released the following guidance on how public bodies can comply with the enhanced 

biodiversity duty: 

 Complying with the biodiversity duty, available at 

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/complying-with-the-biodiversity-duty 

 Reporting your biodiversity duty actions, available at 

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/reporting-your-biodiversity-duty-actions 

There is no precise and definite definition of the legal requirement “to consider”. 

However, the above guidance as a whole can be viewed as defining the actions 

required to meet the legal obligation.  

The NERC Act as amended allows a public body to conclude that there is no further 

action it can properly take. However, if the consideration concludes there is further 

action that can be taken, the Act as amended specifically requires at s40 1(A) that 

the relevant public bodies “must”: 

(a) determine such policies and specific objectives as it considers appropriate 

for taking action to further the general biodiversity objective, and 

(b) take such action as it considers appropriate, in the light of those policies 

and objectives, to further that objective. 

The NERC Act as amended (s40 1(B)) allows for the satisfaction of (a) above by 

revising existing policies and specific objectives. Section 40 1(E) and the guidance 

Page 15

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/complying-with-the-biodiversity-duty
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/reporting-your-biodiversity-duty-actions


Biodiversity Duty Portfolio Holder Report January 2024  Appendix 1 
 

4 
 

requires that the determination of policies and objectives must be made as soon as 

practicable after the consideration required by the Act. 

A further determination of policies and specific objectives to further the general 

biodiversity objective and the actions that can be undertaken to meet the general 

biodiversity objective has to be undertaken within five years of the original 

consideration, and every five years thereafter, although this can be more often.  

The Environment Act 2021 amends the NERC Act by placing reporting obligations 

on local authorities including the local planning authority. Section 40A of the NERC 

Act as amended requires that LPAs “must” publish “biodiversity reports”. 

The above guidance on reporting biodiversity duty actions states in summary: 

 The end date for the first reporting period should be no later than 1 January 

2026. After this, the end date of each reporting period must be within 5 years 

of the end date of the previous reporting period. 

 Reports must be published within 12 weeks of the reporting period end date. 

 By law, the report must include: 

 a summary of the action taken to comply with the biodiversity duty; 

 how the LPA plans to comply with the biodiversity duty in the next reporting 

period; and 

 any other information considered appropriate. 

 Reports from local planning authorities must also include: 

 a summary of the actions carried out to meet BNG obligations; 

 details of the net gains in biodiversity resulting, or expected to result, from 

BNG Plans approved by the LPA as part of planning applications; and 

 a summary of how the LPA plans to meet BNG in the next reporting period. 

Note that the biodiversity report, including BNG element - looks both back at action 

taken but also forward to actions that may be taken. 

The Act as amended allows for the Secretary of State to require by regulation the 

biodiversity report to include specified quantitative data relating to biodiversity. 

 

Page 16



Biodiversity Duty Portfolio Holder Report January 2024  Appendix 1 
 

5 
 

Considering the Biodiversity Duty 

This report represents the first consideration of the extent to which the LPA is 

meeting the biodiversity duty and is focused on the actions of Wyre Council as the 

Local Planning Authority. It operates from the premise that the local planning 

function of a local authority is necessarily engaged in the management, use and 

protection of land in the public interest, in as so far as allowed by legislation and 

regulation. It does this through the publication of a Local Plan – a document 

containing those policies, allocations and designations deemed to be required to 

manage development, and through development management – a system of 

regulation that permits development to take place. The use of land is at the heart of 

local planning and development management. In line with national planning policy 

and guidance, this includes a consideration of: 

 Environmental objectives in as so far as they relate to local planning; and 

 The impact of proposed development on the natural environment, including 

habitats, species and biodiversity.  

As such, a consideration of matters relating to the natural environment is “built-in” to 

the planning system. A consideration of the actions the LPA is undertaking to meet 

the biodiversity objective is therefore required in-line with the NERC Act as amended 

by the Environment Act 2021. 

Reporting the Biodiversity Duty 

This report should be referred to as the “baseline report”. It is the initial reporting of 

the biodiversity duty for the LPA. It covers the period 1 January 2024 to 1 January 

2026 and beyond, although it also looks back, including at actions taken in 2023 

relating to Biodiversity Net Gain. Going forward, it is intended that this report will be 

reviewed annually, with a base date of 1 January.  Each report will look back at 

actions taken over the previous 12 months and will look ahead to actions that may 

be undertaken over the following five years. Each report will be published as soon as 

possible after 1 January, allowing for any necessary internal reporting procedures. 

In accordance with the above guidance on reporting the biodiversity duty, the report 

must consider: 

 Current policies, objectives and actions. 

Page 17



Biodiversity Duty Portfolio Holder Report January 2024  Appendix 1 
 

6 
 

 How local nature recovery strategies, protected site strategies and species 

conservation strategies have been taken into account. 

 The LPAs future actions over a period of five years from the end of the 

reporting period. 

Applying the Biodiversity Duty 

Recently published DEFRA guidance on complying with the biodiversity duty 

(referred to above) sets out a framework which may be considered a route to 

demonstrating compliance with the biodiversity duty. 

The first requirement set out in the guidance is unequivocal, stating that there “must” 

be a consideration of how the organisation complies with the following “relevant 

strategies”, all introduced by the Environment Act 2021: 

 Local Nature Recovery Strategies (LNRSs) 

 species conservation strategies 

 protected site strategies 

The guidance requires that organisations “must”: 

 understand how/if they are relevant to your organisation; 

 be aware of how these strategies affect land that you own or manage, or actions 

you could take to conserve and enhance biodiversity; 

 consider how you could contribute to the strategy, where appropriate. 

Although this new strategic framework for nature is in its infancy, it would be 

appropriate through the consideration of the biodiversity duty for an organisation to 

consider how it may be involved in the production of the listed strategies. 

The Act requires the Secretary of State to produce guidance on how LPAs are to 

have regard to the requirement to give consideration to LNRSs within two years of 

this requirement coming into force (i.e. by January 2025). 

Secondly, the guidance suggests that consideration could be given to how the 

council including the LPA will contribute to the achievement of national goals and 

targets on biodiversity, with specific reference to the Environmental Improvement 

Plan (EIP23), published in January 2023. Specifically the guidance refers to the 

Page 18

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/complying-with-the-biodiversity-duty#species-conservation-strategies
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/complying-with-the-biodiversity-duty#protected-site-strategies
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/environmental-improvement-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/environmental-improvement-plan


Biodiversity Duty Portfolio Holder Report January 2024  Appendix 1 
 

7 
 

following government commitments which can be viewed as an appropriate starting 

point: 

By 2030 

 halt the decline in species abundance 

 protect 30% of UK land 

By 2042: 

 increase species abundance by at least 10% from 2030, surpassing 2022 levels 

 restore or create at least 500,000 ha of a range of wildlife rich habitats 

 reduce the risk of species extinction 

 restore 75% of our one million hectares of terrestrial and freshwater protected 

sites to favourable condition, securing their wildlife value for the long term 

Actions under this consideration, can include (taken from the guidance): 

A commitment to: 

a) Give priority to areas of high biodiversity value, if appropriate. 

b) Develop a strategy, if one does not exist, against which organisational 

environmental performance can be monitored and reported. Such a document 

can record the actions planned to be taken to meet organisational biodiversity 

objectives. 

c) Take a Natural Capital approach to policy and decision making that considers 

the value of the natural environment for people and the economy. 

d) For the LPA, evidence compliance with requirements under: 

 strategic environmental assessment 

 environmental impact assessment 

 Habitats Regulations assessment 

 

A third area of consideration involves considering how the council’s land estate can 

be managed to improve biodiversity. This includes green and blue (water) spaces, 

and buildings. Under this consideration, suggestions in the guidance include: 

Page 19

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/strategic-environmental-assessment-and-sustainability-appraisal
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/environmental-impact-assessment
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/habitats-regulations-assessments-protecting-a-european-site


Biodiversity Duty Portfolio Holder Report January 2024  Appendix 1 
 

8 
 

 Promoting and encouraging nature-based solutions, restoration of natural 

processes and landscape recovery. 

 Improving habitat. 

 Taking actions to make space for wildlife. 

 Enhancing protected sites in council ownership. The Environmental 

Improvement Plan sets the expectation that all public authorities should 

ensure they have management plans in place by the end of 2023 to support 

their sites to reach favourable status. 

 Taking actions such as reducing building energy use, reviewing the 

management of vegetation, and minimising the impact on wildlife arising from 

building maintenance work. 

A fourth area of consideration involves considering actions to improve nature in 

areas of outstanding natural beauty and by helping to develop and implement 

National Landscape (formerly Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty) management 

plans. 

A fifth area of consideration concerns actions that can be undertaken to help the 

public and stakeholders understand biodiversity and why it’s important to conserve 

and enhance it.  

A sixth area of consideration is the council’s own internal policies and procedures 

for staff and facilities. The guidance suggests the following policies could be 

reviewed: 

 transport – support sustainable travel to reduce carbon emissions and improve 

air quality 

 waste – review waste management and recycling processes to reduce water 

pollution and air pollution from waste transport and landfill 

 water – improve water efficiency to reduce the effect water abstraction can have 

on sensitive habitats and species 

 procurement – buy sustainable materials and supplies to reduce the demand on 

natural resources 

 light – make sure the design of artificial lighting minimises effects on nature 

Page 20

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/environmental-improvement-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/environmental-improvement-plan


Biodiversity Duty Portfolio Holder Report January 2024  Appendix 1 
 

9 
 

The seventh and final area of consideration involves the preparation and 

implementation of BNG. 

Not all of the above considerations will be relevant to LPAs. However, they provide a 

useful starting point for considering actions the LPA is taking, and may take in the 

future, in the furtherance of the biodiversity duty. 

Meeting the Biodiversity Duty – A Consideration 

Using the above framework provides a logical route to explaining how the LPA is 

currently meeting the biodiversity duty and meets the requirements of the above 

guidance on reporting the biodiversity duty.  

Consideration LPA Response 

Relevant strategies: 

 Local Nature Recovery 
Strategies (LNRSs) 

 species conservation 
strategies 

 protected site strategies 

The strategies listed in the guidance are either not in place 
at the time of writing or, in relation to the LNRS, at a very 
early stage of development. In relation to the latter, an 
initial meeting has been held between the Responsible 
Body (Lancashire County Council (LCC)), Lancashire 
districts and government stakeholders as the LNRS 
Steering Group. Wyre LPA is a member of the steering 
group and expects to play a role in the LNRS production 
as a supporting authority. 

National goals and targets The LPA will be considering how the emerging review of 
the current Local Plan (2011-2031) will be informed by 
national policies including goals and targets.  

WBC land estate Although the LPA has no responsibility for the council’s 
land estate, the council’s Green Infrastructure Strategy 
referred to below supports the use of the council’s own 
land for biodiversity benefits. 

Forest of Bowland National 
Landscape 

Wyre includes the Forest of Bowland National Landscape 
(formerly Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty). The Forest 
of Bowland was originally designated as an AONB in 
February 1964; the National Landscape designation 
applies from November 2023. The new name is intended 
to reflect their national importance and the vital 
contribution they make to protect the nation from the 
threats of climate change, nature depletion and the 
wellbeing crisis, whilst also creating greater understanding 
and awareness for the work that they do. 

The Forest of Bowland National Landscape covers an 
area of 803 square kilometres straddling six local authority 
boundaries. The Rivers Wyre, Brock and Calder originate 
in the upland core of the Bowland Fells. Wyre Local Plan 
Policy SP5 Forest of Bowland AONB provides the basis 

Page 21

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/complying-with-the-biodiversity-duty#species-conservation-strategies
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/complying-with-the-biodiversity-duty#species-conservation-strategies
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/complying-with-the-biodiversity-duty#protected-site-strategies


Biodiversity Duty Portfolio Holder Report January 2024  Appendix 1 
 

10 
 

Consideration LPA Response 

for determining planning applications within the National 
Landscape. It protects the character, appearance and 
setting of the National Landscape irrespective of whether 
the proposed development lies within or outside the 
designation. The policy remains consistent with the 
National Landscape Management Plan (formerly the 
AONB Management Plan). 

SP5 will be reviewed as part of the current review of the 
Wyre Local Plan (2011-2031). This will by necessity 
involve changing the policy name to reflect the new 
designation. 

Public and stakeholders Engagement with the public and stakeholders currently 
takes place through the local plan production process and 
the determination of planning applications. 

Local plan production takes place within the legal 
guidelines set by legislation and regulation. The Town and 
Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 
2012 requires the LPA to consult with “specific 
consultation bodies” and “general consultation bodies”. 
The former is specified by the Regulations and includes 
the Environment Agency, the Marine Management 
Organisation and Natural England. These bodies are 
consulted at key stages of the local plan production 
process and, along with other stakeholders, kept informed 
of progress.  

General consultation bodies are locally defined. Those of 
relevance to biodiversity in Wyre are: 

 Canal & River Trust 

 CPRE Lancashire 

 Forest of Bowland Area of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty Partnership 

 The Gardens Trust 

 Greater Manchester Ecology Unit 

 Lancashire Wildlife Trust 

 Royal Society for the Protection of Birds (RSPB) 

 Woodland Trust 

In addition, the LPA is required to produce a Habitats 
Regulations Assessment (HRA) as part of the local plan 
production process. The HRA is an assessment required 
where a land use plan may give rise to significant effects 
upon a Natura 2000 site (also known as a ‘European site’). 
The requirements of the European Habitats Directive are 
transposed into English law by means of the Conservation 
of Habitats and Species (Amendment) Regulations 2017. 
The overarching aim of HRA is to determine, in view of a 

Page 22



Biodiversity Duty Portfolio Holder Report January 2024  Appendix 1 
 

11 
 

Consideration LPA Response 

site’s conservation objectives and qualifying interests, 
whether a plan, either in isolation and/or in combination 
with other plans, would have a significant adverse effect 
on the European-designated site. Natural England is a 
statutory consultee within the HRA process. 

In terms of development management, consultees can 
include: 

 Canal & River Trust 

 CPRE 

 DEFRA 

 Environment Agency 

 Forest of Bowland AONB 

 Forestry Commission 

 Fylde Bird Club 

 The Garden Trust 

 GMEU 

 Lancashire Badger Group 

 Lancashire Wildlife Trust 

 Marine Management Organisation 

 Natural England 

 North Lancashire Bat Group 

 RSPB 

 Woodland Trust 

In addition, where appropriate, the LPA consult with the 
Greater Manchester Ecology Unit (GMEU) who act as the 
LPAs advisors on habitat/biodiversity matters, including 
Biodiversity Net Gain.  

Internal policies and 
procedures 

Officers’ reports on planning applications for determination 
either by planning committee or by the Head of Planning 
under delegated powers refer to all material considerations 
including national and local policy. As a matter of course, 
Local Plan policies including those relating to biodiversity 
and the natural environment, are addressed as 
appropriate. 

Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) The LPA has been undertaking work to embed BNG into 
the planning system in Wyre. To date (early December 
2023) this includes: 

 Three training events have been held with 
development management, planning enforcement, 
planning policy and legal officers to provide a 
general introduction to BNG, provide a detailed 
breakdown of its application through the emerging 
statutory metric, and provide a detailed examination 
of the implications for development management 
procedures and monitoring local plan outcomes. 

Page 23



Biodiversity Duty Portfolio Holder Report January 2024  Appendix 1 
 

12 
 

Consideration LPA Response 

 One training event with councillors to provide a 
general introduction to BNG and key issues for the 
development management process in Wyre. 

 A BNG Guide for Applicants is being drafted for 
release once Statutory BNG comes into force. 

 Internal guidance for development management 
officers is in progress (December 2023). 

 Work is underway on developing a BNG Monitoring 
System. This will allow the LPA to track on and off-
site BNG in the borough and identify key monitoring 
reporting dates where this obligation exists. This 
includes developing a system for calculating 
monitoring fees. 

 Work is underway with legal officers on planning 
conditions and s106 agreements. 

Other – Wyre Local Plan 
and Development 
Management 

Local Plan 

The current Wyre Local Plan to 2031 contains objectives 
and policies relevant to the biodiversity duty: 

Objective 7 – To protect and enhance Wyre’s natural and 
heritage assets and amenity creating a high quality built 
and natural environment including through high quality 
design that respects, and where appropriate, improves the 
character of the locality and surrounding landscape. 

Objective 11 – To minimise environmental impact 
including flood risk and pollution and where necessary 
ensure appropriate mitigation, compensation and 
enhancement measures. 

Policy CDMP4 requires development to achieve a net gain 
in biodiversity “where possible”. Although this aspect of the 
policy will be superseded by the statutory requirement, the 
wider policy will still be a material planning consideration, 
including through part 10 of the policy which focuses on: 

 the preservation of functional networks which facilitate 
the movement of species and populations; 

 the protection of the Borough’s biodiversity; and 

 the restoration, enhancement and connection of natural 
habitats through the provision of appropriate Green 
Infrastructure. 

Key sites of environmental importance are designated as 
Green Infrastructure through policy CDMP4 and are 
protected in accordance with the policy criteria. The key 
environmental sites protected are: 

Special Protection Area –  

Morecambe Bay and Duddon Estuary 

Page 24



Biodiversity Duty Portfolio Holder Report January 2024  Appendix 1 
 

13 
 

Consideration LPA Response 

Bowland Fells 

Liverpool Bay SPA is within 0.5km (off-shore) 

Special Areas of Conservation: Morecambe Bay 

Ramsar: Morecambe Bay 

Biodiversity Heritage Sites (BHSs) – a Lancashire 
County Council designation for local wildlife sites identified 
according to a published methodology.  

Parts 11 and 12 of Policy CDMP4 specifically provide 
protection and for appropriate mitigation where 
development is permissible for nationally and 
internationally designated sites and habitats and species 
of local importance. Part 13 of Policy CDMP4 seeks to 
protect the function of the borough’s ecological network. 
Parts 21 to 24 of CDMP4 are designed to protect trees and 
hedgerows and to require appropriate mitigation where 
impacts are deemed acceptable. This includes protecting: 

 Ancient woodland 

 Protected trees; and 

 Veteran trees. 

Policy SP5 relating to the AONB (now National 
Landscape) is detailed above. 

The current Local Plan includes a suite of monitoring 
indicators. Of relevance to the biodiversity duty are: 

PMI29 & SAI8/1 - Number and change in areas of 
biodiversity, geological and landscape importance. 

PMI30 - Amount of new development within areas of 
biodiversity, geological and landscape importance. 

PMI31 & SAI8/2 - Condition of SSSIs. 

PMI32 & SAI8/3 - Number of Biological Heritage Sites 
(BHS) under active management. 

SAI8/4 – Areas of Ancient woodland. 

PMI40 and SAI9/1 – Amount of Green Infrastructure lost to 
development (ha). 

PMI41- Amount of new green infrastructure (including 
public open space) provided through new development. 
 
Progress against these indicators can be found in the 
annual Authorities Monitoring Report. 

The LPA is undertaking a full review of the Local Plan 
(2011-2031) and will be reviewing the Local Plan vision, 
objective and policies, including Policy CDMP4, to ensure 
compatibility with the biodiversity duty. 

Page 25

https://www.wyre.gov.uk/evidence-monitoring-information/authorities-monitoring-report?documentId=242&categoryId=20178


Biodiversity Duty Portfolio Holder Report January 2024  Appendix 1 
 

14 
 

Consideration LPA Response 

The LPA is building a consideration of biodiversity into the 
new Green Infrastructure (GI) Strategy both to support the 
on-going review of the Wyre Local Plan 2031 and provide 
a corporate GI policy framework. The GI Strategy Strategic 
Framework incorporating Action Plan contains a number of 
elements relevant to biodiversity. This includes the 
creation of nature rich places with the following priorities: 

 Promote the use of design to connect people to nature 
in a sensitive way. 

 Conserve and enhance areas of high ecological value 
including designated sites and geological assets. 

 Conserve and enhance ecological corridors, including 
open watercourses, to allow for the movement and 
distribution of wildlife.  

 Reduce the fragmentation of habitats and increase 
connectivity. 

 Promote the appropriate public enjoyment of the 
natural environment. 

 Deliver Biodiversity Net Gain, with priority given to on-
site delivery in Wyre where this is an ecologically 
appropriate solution. 

 Maximise the benefits of appropriate woodland and 
tree planting for habitat delivery and climate change 
adopting a “right tree, right place” philosophy. 

 Protect and manage ancient, veteran and other trees 
of special interest, and ancient hedgerows, for their 
ecological and visual amenity benefit and as carbon 
stores.  

 Support appropriate coastal, estuarine and freshwater 
grassland and wetland creation and management for 
ecological and climate benefits.  

 Help achieve targeted individual species recovery. 

 Maintain and enhance geodiversity assets. 

 Maximise the potential of council-owned land to 
contribute to local nature recovery and climate change 
mitigation and adaptation. 

 Work with stakeholders to promote a holistic approach 
to GI, including blue and yellow infrastructure, and the 
multifunctional benefits it can bring. 

 Contribute to cross-species objectives such as 
pollinator strategies. 

 Reduce soil degradation and loss. 

 Work to reduce the recreational disturbance of 
important habitats and species and increase positive 
engagement relating to the natural environment. 

 Work with farmers, land managers and partners to 
identify and promote mechanisms for improved 

Page 26



Biodiversity Duty Portfolio Holder Report January 2024  Appendix 1 
 

15 
 

Consideration LPA Response 

natural capital benefits (for example natural flood 
management, biodiversity enhancements and access 
to nature) from rural areas for the wider green 
infrastructure. 

 

The Green Infrastructure Strategy will be available from 
https://www.wyre.gov.uk/evidence-monitoring-
information/environment-
evidence?documentId=145&categoryId=20178 

Development Management 

Policy CDMP4 provides the statutory planning basis for 
assessing planning applications in terms of protecting 
important habitats and seeking habitat enhancements. 
Recent approvals where habitat matters have been an 
important part of the consideration process include the 
following: 

19/00615 Land South of Blackpool Road, Poulton-Le-
Fylde (outline) land for up to 330 houses approved with 
conditions and legal agreements to compensate for any 
loss of habitat and to increase biodiversity of the wider 
area: 

1)  A significant area of land situated to the south of the 
site adjacent to a Biological Heritage Site (BHS) to be set 
aside and managed for Great Crested Newts and other 
important species, ultimately acting as an extension to the 
existing BHS.  

2) Prior to the commencement of development conditions 
require the submission and agreement of a Landscape 
and Habitat Creation and Management scheme (LHCMS) 
along with a timetable for implementation. The scheme to 
identify: 

 The retention of hedgerows and trees, or where this is 
not possible, sufficient replacement native tree and 
hedgerow planting; 

 The removal of any trees, with those which have the 
potential for bat roosting to have been inspected for the 
presence of bats. Should any bats be found these trees 
shall be either retained or compensation put forwards 
for the potential harm to bats; 

 Provision of bird, bat, beetle and hedgehog boxes 
within the development; 

 Details of elements to mitigate for loss of any 
hedgerows, trees and bird nesting habitat; 

Page 27

https://www.wyre.gov.uk/evidence-monitoring-information/environment-evidence?documentId=145&categoryId=20178
https://www.wyre.gov.uk/evidence-monitoring-information/environment-evidence?documentId=145&categoryId=20178
https://www.wyre.gov.uk/evidence-monitoring-information/environment-evidence?documentId=145&categoryId=20178


Biodiversity Duty Portfolio Holder Report January 2024  Appendix 1 
 

16 
 

Consideration LPA Response 

 Continuous terrestrial connectivity along the 
boundaries of the development for species movement 
and ecological connectivity across the site; 

 Opportunities to enhance the value of the site for 
wildlife through, for example, new structure planting; 

 Opportunities for the road infrastructure to include 
amphibian friendly features such as off-set gully pots 
and dropped kerbs and locations between ponds and 
adjoining hedgerows/green infrastructure; 

 The use of locally native species planting specification; 

 Design of attenuation ponds to hold water under 
normal circumstances and to include amphibian 
protection measures to outflows and flow control 
mechanisms; 

 The use of ecologically permeable boundary 
treatments across the site to allow the movement 
between green infrastructure and gardens of 
amphibians and small mammals such as hedgehog; 

 Details of informative signage in relation to North 
Blackpool Pond Trail and any new countryside 
furniture/path/surfacing details; and  

 Details of management and maintenance 
arrangements of each of the above. 

3) Prior to first occupation, a scheme for the provision of 
home-owner information packs highlighting the sensitivity 
of Morecambe Bay (a European protected nature 
conservation site) to recreational disturbance shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  

19/00551 Land to the South of Blackpool Road 
Poulton-Le-Fylde 202 dwellings (full) and primary school 
(outline) (adjacent to the above site) - development with 
the potential to affect designated sites by reason of 
recreational disturbance and impacts upon water quality. 
Mitigation by condition included the submission and 
approval of a Landscape and Habitat Creation and 
Management scheme (LHCMS) to include: 

 Design of attenuation ponds to hold water under 
normal circumstances and to include amphibian 
protection measures through headwall and outflow 
designs and flow control mechanisms; 

 The road infrastructure design to include amphibian 
friendly features such as off-set gully pots and dropped 
kerbs in locations between ponds and adjoining 
hedgerows/green infrastructure; 

Page 28



Biodiversity Duty Portfolio Holder Report January 2024  Appendix 1 
 

17 
 

Consideration LPA Response 

 Details of long term management for the water bodies 
and terrestrial habitat specifically for great crested 
newts along with other retained or recreational habitats; 

 The erection of temporary protection fencing to 
retained trees, shrubs and hedgerows. Protection 
measures to also include Pond 5 and the ditches within 
the public open space (Ditches 9 and 10); 

 Details of how the scheme is designed to maintain 
connectivity and ecological permeability such as 
supplementary native species planting and boundary 
fencing details to allow habitats connectivity and 
ecological movement of small mammals and 
amphibians; 

 A re-survey of trees 2 & 3 to include updated condition 
assessment, aerial inspection and/or activity surveys 
and identification of any additional mitigation or need 
for licence; 

 Provision of bat, bird, beetle and hedgehog boxes 
within the development; 

 Details of informative signage and any new countryside 
furniture/path/surfacing details in relation to North 
Blackpool Pond Trail. 
 

2) Prior to first occupation of any dwelling, a scheme for 
the provision of home-owner information packs 
highlighting the sensitivity of Morecambe Bay (a European 
protected nature conservation site) to recreational 
disturbance shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. 

18/00469 Land to the North and South of School Lane 
Forton 195 dwellings, 1ha of employment, community 
centre and shop (Use Class A1) and associated 
infrastructure (outline) – permission included a 
requirement for a landscape and habitat creation and 
management scheme, identifying:  

 The retention of hedgerows and trees, or where this is 
not possible, sufficient replacement native tree and 
hedgerow planting; 

 The removal of any trees, with those which have the 
potential for bat roosting to have been inspected for the 
presence of bats. Should any bats be found these trees 
shall be either retained or compensation put forwards 
for the potential harm to bats; 

 Provision of bird nesting opportunities; 

 Details of elements to mitigate for loss of any 
hedgerows, trees and bird nesting habitat; 

Page 29



Biodiversity Duty Portfolio Holder Report January 2024  Appendix 1 
 

18 
 

Consideration LPA Response 

 Continuous terrestrial connectivity along the 
boundaries of the development for species movement; 
and 

 Opportunities to enhance the value of the site for 
wildlife through, for example, new structure planting. 

 

How the LPA plans to comply with the biodiversity duty over the 

next five years 

Over the next two to three years the LPA will be particularly focused on the review of 

the Local Plan and bringing the reviewed plan to adoption. As indicated above, this 

will involve both the development of the Local Plan evidence base and a review of 

the specific objectives and policies of the current Local Plan (2011-2031). Post 

adoption, the focus will be on implementing the policies of the reviewed Local Plan 

with monitoring to ensure that the policies contained therein are delivering the 

expected outcomes. Future editions of this report will provide more detail on the 

integration of matters relating to biodiversity into the Local Plan policies and 

objectives as the review progresses. 

How the LPA plans to meet BNG in the next reporting period 

At the time of writing, BNG has not been implemented. Without doubt, the next two 

to three years will be a period of learning. It remains to be seen what impact this will 

have on how the LPA applies BNG policy. However, the LPA will work with its BNG 

advisor (GMEU) and relevant stakeholders to apply statutory BNG in accordance 

with the legislation, regulations and national policy and guidance. In particular, the 

LPA will wish to ensure that the LNRS process and the Local Plan provide a 

complementary strategic view of biodiversity issues and the application of policy. 

Conclusion 

The LPA has reported on its consideration of current approaches to ensuring that the 

service is meeting the biodiversity duty. Looking forward to 2026 and beyond, there 

are four key areas of focus: 

 The Local Plan review; 

 The implementation of mandatory BNG; 

Page 30



Biodiversity Duty Portfolio Holder Report January 2024  Appendix 1 
 

19 
 

 The development of the LNRS and integration into local planning policy and 

development management decisions; and 

 The integration into local planning policy and development management 

decisions of species conservation strategies and protected site strategies as 

and when progressed by the national government. 

Page 31

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/complying-with-the-biodiversity-duty#species-conservation-strategies
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/complying-with-the-biodiversity-duty#protected-site-strategies


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

The portfolio holder will make a decision on this item after seven days have elapsed 
(including the date of publication). 
 

Report of: Portfolio Holder Date of publication 

Marianne Hesketh, 
Corporate Director 

Communities 

Councillor Lesley McKay, 
Resources Portfolio Holder and 

Councillor Lynne Bowen, 
Leisure, Health and 

Community Engagement 
Portfolio Holder  

25 January 2024 

 
Acceptance of grant funding to provide healthy weight services and an active 

travel programme in Wyre 
 
Key decision: No  
 
1. Purpose of report 

 
 1.1 

 
 
 
1.2 
 
 

To request acceptance of £372,735 of funding from Lancashire County 
Council (LCC) Public Health Team to provide healthy weight services for 
adults and children in Wyre for a period of five years (from 2024/25 to 
2028/29). 
 
To request acceptance of £30,000 of funding from the LCC Public Health 
Team to provide an active travel programme in Wyre for a period of one 
year (2024/25). 
 

2. Council priorities 
 

 
 
 
 
 

2.1 
 
 
2.2 
 

Provide support to those that need it, including our most vulnerable and 
financially disadvantaged residents and our ageing population. 
 
Provide opportunities for people to lead healthy and active lifestyles. 
 

3. Recommendations 
 

 3.1 
 
 
 
 
3.2 
 
 
 
 

That approval be given to accept the funding from the LCC Public Health 
Team of £372,735 for five years to provide healthy weight services for 
adults and children in Wyre and funding of £30,000 to provide an active 
travel programme in Wyre. 
 
That approval is given to proceed with the engagement of YMCA Fylde 
Coast  and Fleetwood Town Community Trust to provide the physical 
activity and the men’s weight management elements of the adult weight 
management programme under the exemption to Contract Procedures 
contained within the Financial Regulations and Financial Procedure Rules 

Portfolio Holder Report

Page 33

Agenda Item 3



 
 
 
 
 
3.3  
 
 

on the grounds that exceptions may apply where: “The services are of a 
specialised nature carried out by only one or a limited number of 
organisations which have local experience with no reasonably satisfactory 
alternatives available”. 
 
That approval is given to proceed with the engagement of Go Velo and 
Fleetwood Town Community Trust to provide the active travel programme 
under the exemption to Contract Procedures contained within the 
Financial Regulations and Financial Procedure Rules on the grounds that 
exceptions may apply where: “The services are of a specialised nature 
carried out by only one or a limited number of organisations which have 
local experience with no reasonably satisfactory alternatives available”. 
 

4. Background 
 

 4.1 
 

The LCC Public Health Team have funded district councils through a 
service level agreement to provide healthy weight services since 2020/21. 
The adult weight management contract was tendered out to Slimming 
World and the Children’s Weight Management contract to Healthy Heads. 
This four year contract is now coming to an end and LCC have decided to 
provide more resources over a longer period of time to district councils in 
the form of a collaboration agreement. This gives districts more flexibility 
to provide healthy weight services according to local needs. In Wyre, the 
funding for this new contract has increased from £50,000 per annum to 
£74,500 per annum (2024/25 to 2028/29) owing to the increased obesity 
and excess weight in the borough and the high levels of deprivation in 
certain wards. 

    
 4.2 The LCC Public Health Team also approached district councils to put in a 

bid proposal for £30,000 of funding to provide an active travel programme. 
Wyre’s bid was approved in December 2023. This is a new programme of 
work for Wyre and will form part of implementation of the Wyre Moving 
More Strategy. This funding is from April 2024 for one year and is part of a 
Lancashire wide active travel scheme which is actively aiming to double 
the number of cycle trips, increase walking trips by 10% and reduce 
physical inactivity levels below the national standard by 2028. The active 
travel programme can also help reduce health statistics regarding heart 
and disease via increasing physical activity levels in all ages. There will be 
primary school learn to ride sessions, adult health cycles, a recycling bikes 
initiative, bike maintenance training, learn to ride sessions and more.  
 

5. Key issues and proposals 
 

 5.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Approval is sought to commission  healthy weight services as follows: 
• £200,000 – Adult Healthy Weight contract for five years. This will go 

out to tender to specific providers in this market. 
• £100,000 – Children’s Healthy Weight contract for five years. This 

will go out to tender to specific providers in this market. 
• £20,000 – Men’s Weight Management contract for three years. 

Direct appointment of supplier – Fleetwood Town FC Community 
Trust. 

• £20,000 – Physical activity offer for people on the weight 
management programme for three years. Direct appointment of 
supplier – YMCA Fylde Coast. 

Page 34



 
 
 
5.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.3 

• £32,735 – Internal staffing to support the data inputting, provider 
meetings, promotion and marketing of the programmes. 

 
For the active travel programme, approval is sought to directly appoint 
Go Velo, (cycling training provider) and Fleetwood Town FC 
Community Trust to provide this programme in partnership with 
ourselves and Active Lancashire. All partners are involved in similar 
programmes already in Lancashire and delivery needs to commence 
as soon as possible. 
 
Once approved, we will enter into a collaboration agreement with LCC 
for five years for the delivery of the healthy weight services and a grant 
funding agreement with LCC for the delivery of the active travel 
programme. 
 

6. Alternative options considered and rejected  
 

 6.1 
 

We could look to deliver all of this provision ourselves but we do not have 
the resources and capacity to do this. It would be less cost effective and 
we wouldn’t be able to support as many people to lose weight and/or 
become more active in Wyre if we didn’t work in partnership as we 
propose. 
 

7. Delegated functions 
 

 7.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7.2 
 

The matters referred to in this report are considered under the following 
executive function delegated to the Leisure, Health and Communities 
Portfolio Holder (as set out in Part 3 of the council’s constitution): “To 
consider matters relating to sport and recreation, including sports facilities” 
and the executive function delegated to the Resources Portfolio Holder 
“To consider arrangements for a strategic approach for the Council’s 
procurement of goods and services”. 
 
The matters referred to in this report are considered under the following 
Executive function delegated to the Resources Portfolio Holder (as set out 
in Part 3.03 of the Council’s Constitution): “To consider departures from 
the Rules relating to financial and contractual matters if appropriate”. 
 

Financial, Legal and Climate Change implications 

Finance 

An additional £372,735 of revenue funding from the LCC 
Public Health team will be paid to Wyre Council over the 
next five years (2024/25 to 2028/29) to provide healthy 
weight services with an additional one-off payment of 
£30,000 in 2024/25 towards an active travel programme. 

Legal 

A collaboration agreement would be signed with LCC for 
the healthy weight services and a service level agreement 
will be signed regarding the active travel programme. 
Contracts with the suppliers for the provision of the 
services set out in the report will also be entered into. 

Climate Change 
The active travel programme will support our climate 
change goals by encouraging more people in the borough 
to walk, cycle and wheel. 

 
Page 35



Other risks/implications: checklist 
 

If there are significant implications arising from this report on any issues marked with 
a  below, the report author will have consulted with the appropriate specialist 
officers on those implications and addressed them in the body of the report. There 
are no significant implications arising directly from this report, for those issues 
marked with a x. 
 

risks/implications  / x  risks/implications  / x 
community safety x  asset management x 

equality and diversity x  ICT x 

health and safety x  data protection x 
 

Processing Personal Data 
 

In addition to considering data protection along with the other risks/ implications, the 
report author will need to decide if a ‘privacy impact assessment (PIA)’ is also 
required. If the decision(s) recommended in this report will result in the collection and 
processing of personal data for the first time (i.e. purchase of a new system, a new 
working arrangement with a third party) a PIA will need to have been completed and 
signed off by Data Protection Officer before the decision is taken in compliance with 
the Data Protection Act 2018.  
 

report author telephone no. email date 

Carol Southern 01253 887655 Carol.southern@wyre.gov.uk 8 January 
2024 

 

List of background papers: 

name of document date where available for inspection 

None   
 

List of appendices 
 
None 
 
 

Page 36


	Agenda
	1 UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) - Grant for improvements to Garstang Community Sports Club
	2 Reporting the Biodiversity Duty
	3 Acceptance of grant funding to provide healthy weight services and an active travel programme in Wyre



